THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**  
**Dec 07 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001943  
Civil Action No. 2018-CP-10-666

---

Therese Hood.....Appellant  
v.  
United Services Automobile Association.....Respondent

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ANASTOPOULO LAW FIRM, LLC

Roy T. Willey, IV (SC #101010)  
Eric M. Poulin (SC #100209)  
Alexis W. McCumber (SC #101611)  
32 Ann Street  
Charleston, South Carolina 29403  
Phone (843) 614-8888  
Facsimile (843) 494-5536

**Attorneys for the Appellant Therese Hood**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the Trial Court err in granting Respondent’s pre-trial motions for summary judgment as to breach of contract and outrage?**
- II. **Did the Trial Court err in granting partial directed verdicts limiting the jury to considering Respondent’s conduct in taking disparate positions and limiting damages to actual litigation costs?**
- III. **Did the Trial Court err in granting Respondent’s Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 25, 2019, this matter was called to trial and on June 28, 2019, the jury returned a verdict in Appellant’s favor in the amount of \$299,052.20<sup>1</sup>. Verdict Form. (R. p. 15). Following the verdict, Respondent requested ten days to file post-trial motions under Rules 50 and 59, and the Trial Court granted the request. Trial Transcript 855: 6-9. (R. p. 1707, lines 6-9). On July 8, 2019, Respondent filed a series of motions seeking new trial absolute, new trial *nisi remittitur*, new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine, and/or judgment notwithstanding the verdict. (R. p. 136 - 145). On November 1, 2019, the Trial Court issued an order granting Respondent’s motion for JNOV and entering judgment in Respondent’s favor. Order Granting JNOV and Denying Other Post-Trial Motions. (R. p. 6 – 10). On November 18, 2019, Appellant timely filed and served the notice of appeal and the appeal is properly before this Court. Appellant also filed a Motion to Reconsider, which this Court permitted to be heard, and was subsequently denied by the trial court. Motion to Reconsider, Order on Motion to Reconsider. (R. p. 146 – 162; 11 - 13).

---

<sup>1</sup> This verdict represented the maximum amount of actual damages permitted by the court \$49,052.20, and punitive damages of \$250,000.00. (R. p. 15).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a first party insurance case arising out of Respondent's handling of Appellant's underinsured motorist claim. Amended Compl. (R. p. 16 - 100). Respondent insured Appellant under an automobile insurance policy, which policy was in full force and effect on November 7, 2014 and included Underinsured motorist coverage. Answer to Amended Compl. ¶ 15. (R. p. 101 - 108).

### The Underlying Collision

Appellant was involved in a three-vehicle collision on November 7, 2014 that resulted in Appellant suffering severe injuries. Trial Transcript 580-581. (R. p. 1432 - 1433). As Appellant was traveling straight on a four-lane highway in Beaufort County, a vehicle driven by one Antoine Johnson ("Johnson") entered the highway from a private drive and t-boned Appellant. Id. The force of the collision caused Appellant's vehicle to careen across the median and into the oncoming lane of travel, where Appellant's vehicle collided head on with a vehicle being occupied by William and Mary Kuck ("the Kucks"). Trial Transcript 585. (R. p. 1437). Johnson carried only minimum limits of liability coverage, which was quickly exhausted by the damages suffered. Amended Compl. ¶ 24. (R. p. 23). Answer ¶ 21. (R. p. 103). Trial Transcript 581-83. (R. p. 1433 - 1435).

### The Underlying UIM Lawsuit

Appellant made a liability and UIM claim regarding her injuries from the wreck. Respondent failed to make any pre-suit offer, and as a result on March 17, 2015, Appellant filed the lawsuit against Johnson and served Respondent as her UIM carrier. Trial Transcript 582. (R. p. 1434). Respondent retained attorney Jack Daniel to defend against Appellant's UIM action. Trial Transcript 590. (R. p. 1442). During the course of the underlying UIM lawsuit, Respondent,

repeatedly denied liability, despite the fact that Johnson's liability carrier had accepted liability and tendered his full liability limits. P. Trial Exhibits 13 and 14. (R. p. 1800 and 1802); Trial Transcript 600-01: 607. (R. p. 1452 – 1453; 1459). Respondent defended the underlying UIM lawsuit by alleging that Appellant's lights were off at the time of the underlying collision, which prevented Johnson from being able to see her when Johnson pulled out in front of her. Id.

Eventually, the underlying UIM case was mediated. Trial Transcript 606. (R. p. 1458). By the end of the mediation, Appellant was prepared to settle claim for \$250,000. Trial Transcript 614: 13-14. (R. p. 1466). However, Respondent's agent and attorney stated in no uncertain terms that his "full authority" to settle the case was \$200,000 and that "it will never be more" and "I'm putting it all on the table." Trial Transcript 614-15. (R. p. 1466 - 1467). The claims file later revealed that this representation was false. In fact, prior to the mediation, Respondent had evaluated the case and set its reserve at \$250,000. P. Trial Exhibit 6, 7. (R. p. 1776 - 1777). Trial Transcript 425: 19-25. (R. p. 1278, lines 19-25). See also Deposition of Moats. (R. p. 662 - 852). Likewise, Respondent had given its agent, Mr. Daniel, authority to offer up to its evaluation of \$250,000 to settle the case. Trial Transcript 439. (R. p. 1291).

Instead, Respondent never offered any amount above \$200,000 at any stage of the litigation. Had Respondent offered this amount during mediation, the case would have settled. Trial Transcript 614: 13-14. (R. p. 1466, lines 13-14). Because Respondent did not offer its full evaluation of the case, and in fact misrepresented their evaluation, the underlying case was forced to proceed all the way to trial, which resulted in litigation costs to Appellant in the amount of \$49,052.20. Trial Transcript 617. (R. p. 1469).

Ultimately, the jury in the underlying case returned a verdict in favor of Appellant and against Johnson in the amount of \$2,500,000 on September 7, 2017. Trial Transcript 617: 14-16.

(R. p. 1469, lines 14-16). The verdict was reduced to \$1,275,000 based on the jury's determination that Appellant was 49% comparatively negligent on the basis that Respondent continued to argue that Appellant's lights were off. Trial Transcript 617: 17-24. (R. p. 1469, lines 17-24). However, Respondent's retained experts in another matter, the Kuck lawsuits, had long since determined this to not be true. P. Trial Exhibit 8 - Report of Woodrow M. Poplin, M.S.E., P.E., Aug. 12, 2016. (R. p. 1778). Unbelievably, Respondent itself had taken the opposite position in Kuck lawsuits, to protect its liability policy limits from the Kucks.

### The Underlying Kuck Lawsuits

Initially following the wreck, Mr. Kuck, the driver of the third vehicle, gave a statement to USAA saying, "all I seen was headlights coming at me." Trial Transcript 449: 6-8. (R. p. 1301, lines 6-8). Nevertheless, after USAA had taken the opposite position in defense of Appellant's underlying UIM lawsuit – that being that Mrs. Hood's lights were off – on March 29, 2016, the Kucks filed lawsuits<sup>2</sup> against Appellant alleging that she contributed to the collision. P. Trial Exhibit 11 – Complaint Wm. Kuck v. Hood, et al., 2016-CP-27-00124. (R. p. 1789). Specifically, the Kucks alleged that Appellant was traveling without headlights and that her failure to illuminate her headlights contributed to Johnson's not seeing her and pulling out into her resulting in the t-bone collision that propelled her vehicle into the Kucks' head on. Id. at ¶ 7. (R. p. 1793). In response, Respondent, as Appellant's liability insurer, hired attorney Chris Nickels to defend against the Kuck lawsuits. Trial Transcript 586: 8-14. (R. p. 1438, lines 8-14). Respondent and Mr. Nickels denied the Kuck's allegations. P. Trial Exhibit 12 – Answer to Kuck Suit. (R. p. 1796). As part of that defense, Respondent and Mr. Nickels engaged the

---

<sup>2</sup> In addition, to Mr. Kuck's lawsuit, his wife also filed a lawsuit styled: Mary Elizabeth Kuck v. Therese Hood and Antoine Johnson, Case No. 2016-CP-27-00123 with substantively similar allegations.

services of expert engineer Woodrow Poplin. Court Exhibit 2 – Check Copy to Poplin from USAA. (R. p. 2431).

Mr. Poplin, at Respondent’s direction, performed a lamp filament analysis on Appellant’s vehicle and issued a report concluding that Appellant’s headlights were, in fact, illuminated at the time of the collision. P. Trial Exhibit 8 - Report of Woodrow M. Poplin, M.S.E., P.E., Aug. 12, 2016. (R. p. 1778). Respondent used this report to defend its liability money against the Kuck lawsuits, even as it continued to insist that Appellant’s lights were off in the UIM lawsuit.

As discovered in the claims file, Respondent also obtained another expert witness – who they never disclosed – to review Mr. Poplin’s work. That expert, Tyler Black, determined that Mr. Poplin completed a scientifically supported lamp filament analysis test in reaching his conclusions. Trial Transcript 588: 24 – 589: 6. (R. p. 1440, line 24 – p. 1441, line 6).

After receiving Mr. Poplin’s report in the Kuck lawsuit, Respondent changed its evaluation and reserves in the UIM lawsuit to \$250,000.00, but never officially changed its position on the headlights issue.<sup>3</sup> In fact, even after this point, Respondent unconditionally denied in the underlying UIM lawsuit that Appellant was operating her vehicle with her headlamps illuminated at the time of the November 7, 2014, collision as their own experts had conclusively established. P. Trial Exhibit 14 – USAA Responses to Requests for Admission, January 11, 2017. (R. p. 1802).

#### The First Party Lawsuit Against USAA

Given that Respondent had taken disparate positions on the headlight issue, had failed to offer their own internal evaluation towards settlement of the claim (an amount that would have settled the claim and prevented the cost of trial), and had blatantly misrepresented their internal

---

<sup>3</sup> Transcript 453:7-11. USAA Corporate Representative Kathy Moats: “Q. Okay. And you disregarded that too, in your evaluation? A. I - I took it into account. Obviously, I took everything into account or we wouldn’t have raised the reserve to \$250,000.” (R. p. 1305, lines 7-11).

evaluation of the claim, Appellant filed the present first party action, alleging bad faith, breach of contract, negligence/gross negligence, barratry, outrage, and negligence *per se*. Amended Compl. (R. p. 16 - 100).

The case was called to trial on June 25, 2019. Trial Transcript 7: 2. (R. p. 1859). Prior to the start of the trial, Respondent made an oral motion for summary judgment. Trial Transcript 10. (R. p. 862). The Trial Court granted summary judgment as to Appellant's causes of action for breach of contract, barratry, and outrage. Trial Transcript 156: 6-19. (R. p. 1008, lines 6-19). The Trial Court allowed to case to proceed on the causes of action for bad faith and negligence/gross negligence. Trial Transcript 156: 23-24. (R. p. 1008, lines 23-24).

Following the close of the Plaintiff's case, and again at the conclusion of trial, Respondent made a number of motions for directed verdict. Trial Transcript 665, 753-754. (R. p. 1517; 1605 - 1606). Important to this appeal, the Trial Court granted two of these motions, which severely limited the case with respect to the arguments that were ultimately presented to the jury for consideration. First, the Trial Court held that the jury could only consider Respondent's conduct with respect to Respondent having taken disparate positions on the headlights in the underlying UIM and Kuck lawsuits. Trial Transcript 693: 22 – 694: 2. (R. p. 1545, line 22 – p. 1546, line 2). In so ruling, the Trial Court decided that the jury could not consider the fact that Respondent had failed to offer their internal evaluation of the value of the case (an amount that would have caused the case to settle) or that Respondent affirmatively misrepresented the value of the case to Appellant. Id. The Trial Court also held that the jury could consider as actual damages only Appellant's actual costs incurred in her prosecution of the underlying UIM lawsuit, and not any consequential damages or emotional distress. Trial Transcript 694: 6-11. (R. p. 1546, lines 6-11).

Upon the close of the case, the Trial Court finalized a verdict form. Verdict Form. (R. p. 15). The first two questions on the verdict form pertained to liability. Question one stated, “Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant USAA breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing to Therese Hood?” Question two stated “Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant USAA individually or through its agents was negligent?” Next, the verdict form stated, “IF YES TO **EITHER** 1 or 2 or BOTH GO TO QUESTION 3.” (emphasis added). Questions three through five pertained to damages.

In presenting the charge on the law, the Trial Court explained that the causes of action for bad faith and negligence were separate causes of action, a positive finding under each or either of which would entitle Appellant to actual damages. Trial Transcript 827: 22 – 831: 19. (R. p. 1679, line 22 – 1683, line 19). Again, when explaining the verdict form at the end of the charge, the trial court instructed the jury that a positive finding on either the bad faith or negligence cause of action would entitle Appellant to actual damages. Trial Transcript 835: 19 - 836: 22. (R. p. 1687, line 19 – 1688, line 22).

During deliberations, the jury presented a question. Trial Transcript 843: 23-25. (R. p. 1695, lines 23-25). The question was: “Can verdict one and four be mutually exclusive?” Id. After conversation with counsel, the trial judge decided to do the following:

So let's bring the jury in. I am going to give them -- I am going to walk through the verdict form with them again and just I am going to give them that caveat that if you can answer yes to either one or two then go to number three. If you find that an award of actual damages proper under either cause of action then you will go to question number four. Did you find the plaintiff proved by clear and convincing evidence that USAA'S bad faith or negligence was intentional, reckless, willful, wanton ---

Trial Transcript 849: 11-19. (R. p. 1701, lines 11-19).

This reiterated the prior jury instruction during the charge on the law, that being the difference between number one pertaining to the bad faith cause of action and number two pertaining to the negligence cause of action – and that is exactly what she did:

THE COURT: Okay. Ladies and gentlemen, I am just going to go over the verdict form with you one more time. I hope this will answer your question.

Number one on the verdict form is asking you do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing to Therese Hood. And of course you are going to answer that either yes or no.

Number two pertains to the second cause of action for negligence. And it states do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant USAA individually or through its agent was negligent. To which you will answer yes or no.

**If you answered yes to either of these things, either number one or two, then you will proceed to number three which is the question about actual damages.** So if the answer to number one or two is yes, the amount of actual damages, if any, caused by the defendant's conduct.

**If you find actual damages then you will continue to question number four, did the plaintiff prove by clear and convincing evidence that USAA's bad faith on either of the bad faith cause of action or the negligence cause of action was intentional, reckless, willful, wanton, or malicious.**

If the answer is yes you will continue to question five. If the answer is no you will stop and deliberate no further.

Does that answer your question?

(WHEREUPON, jury foreperson nods in the affirmative.)

Trial Transcript 850: 25- 852: 2. (emphasis added). (R. p. 1702, line 25 – 1704, line 2).

Ultimately, the jury returned a verdict in favor of Appellant for actual damages in the amount of \$49,052.20 (the exact amount of Appellant's costs from the underlying UIM lawsuit and the *only* actual damages they were permitted by the Trial Court to consider) and \$250,000 in punitive damages. Verdict Form. (R. p. 15). In so doing, the jury followed the Court's instructions and the instructions on the verdict form. Specifically, the jury answered "No" to

question one (Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant USAA breached its duty of good faith and fair dealing to Therese Hood? “the bad faith cause of action”) and “Yes” to question two (Do you find by a preponderance of the evidence that Defendant USAA individually or through its agents was negligent? “the negligence cause of action”). Id. The jury then went on, as instructed, to answer the remaining questions regarding damages. Id.

Respondent made no objection to the verdict at the time it was published or at any time prior to the jurors being excused. Trial Transcript 854: 16 – 855: 3. (R. p. 1706, line 16 – 1707, line 3). Respondent did request ten days for post-trial motions, which was granted and, eventually Respondent did file a plethora of post-trial motions. Trial Transcript 855: 6-9. (R. p. 1707, lines 6-9). Ultimately, the Trial Court ruled that the jury’s verdict was inconsistent and granted Respondent’s motion for JNOV. Order Granting JNOV and Denying Other Post-Trial Motions. (R. p. 6 - 10). This appeal followed.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“In South Carolina, an appellate court must uphold a jury verdict if it is possible to reconcile its various features.” Camden v. Hilton, 360 S.C. 164, 174, 600 S.E.2d 88, 93 (Ct.App.2004). “Furthermore, ‘a jury verdict should be upheld when it is possible to do so and carry into effect the jury's clear intention.’” Id. (quoting Johnson v. Parker, 279 S.C. 132, 135, 303 S.E.2d 95, 97 (1983)). Sapp v. Wheeler, 402 S.C. 502, 512, 741 S.E.2d 565, 571 (Ct. App. 2013). In ruling on directed verdict or JNOV motions, the trial court is required to view the evidence and the inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motions. Steinke v. South Carolina Dep't of Labor, Licensing and Regulation, 336 S.C. 373, 520 S.E.2d 142 (1999). The trial court must deny the motions when the evidence yields more than one inference, or its inference is in doubt. Id.

“When a jury renders an inconsistent verdict, the only remedies available at that moment are to resubmit the case to the jury or grant a new trial absolute. See Stevens v. Allen, 342 S.C. 47, 52–53, 536 S.E.2d 663, 665–66 (2000); Camden v. Hilton, 360 S.C. 164, 173–74, 600 S.E.2d 88, 92–93 (Ct.App.2004). The remedies to correct an inconsistent verdict are limited because a court cannot determine whether the jury intended to render a verdict for the plaintiff or defendant. Stevens v. Allen, 336 S.C. 439, 450–51, 520 S.E.2d 625, 630–31 (Ct.App.1999). Campbell v. Robinson, 398 S.C. 12, 26, 726 S.E.2d 221, 229 (Ct. App. 2012).

“Verdicts which are irreconcilably inconsistent should not stand, and a new trial should be granted, because the parties and the judge ‘should not be required to guess as to what a jury sought to render.’” Prego v. Hobart, 287 S.C. 116, 118, 336 S.E.2d 725, 726 (Ct.App.1985). “However, ‘[i]t is the duty of the court to sustain verdicts when a logical reason for reconciling them can be found.’” Rhodes v. Winn–Dixie Greenville, Inc., 249 S.C. 526, 530, 155 S.E.2d 308, 310 (1967). Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., 387 S.C. 22, 49–50, 691 S.E.2d 135, 149 (2010).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Trial Court erred in granting Respondent’s pre-trial motions for summary judgment as to the breach of contract and outrage claims.**

#### **A. The Motions were untimely and not properly noticed.**

South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 56 on Summary Judgment requires: “Motions and Proceedings Thereon: The motion **shall** be served at least 10 days before the time fixed for the hearing.” SCRCP 56(c), emphasis added.

In the present case the motions were filed and served on June 19, 2019, according to the certificate of service. Defs. Motion for Summ. Judg. (R. p. 117 - 124). The motions were argued on June 25, 2019, just before trial. Trial Transcript 7, 107, 149. (R. p. 859, 959, 1001). Plaintiff

raised the timing issue as an objection to the motions moving forward at that time. Trial Transcript 10. (“Rule 56(c) is quite clear in when a motion or summary judgment must be served. And it says the motion shall be. Not may be. Shall be served at least ten days before the time fixed for the hearing.”). (R. p. 862). The Court heard – and granted – the motions notwithstanding the clear language of Rule 56. It was error to do so.

**B. Appellant’s breach of contract claim was properly supported by the law and the evidence.**

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