THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Kristi F. Curtis, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001943
Case No. 2018-CP-10-00666

RECEIVED

Nov 24 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Therese Hood,..... Appellant,

v.

United Services Automobile Association,..... Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Robert W. Whelan
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

Blake. T. Williams
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 11070
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 799-2000

Attorneys for Respondent

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

B. The trial court properly considered USAA's renewed motion.

Appellant first contends that the trial court should not have considered USAA's motion because it was not served at least ten days before the hearing date. This is without merit as USAA's motion was simply a one-sentence renewal of its prior motion for summary judgment and restated the exact same arguments.

USAA filed its original motion on March 12, 2018. Appellant responded with a 17 page memorandum in opposition with roughly 300 pages of exhibits attached. At the June 20, 2018 hearing, Appellant's counsel argued that Appellant needed to conduct discovery to respond to the motion. (6/20/18 Hearing Tr. 15:10-17:9; R. pp. 1754-56.) Accordingly, the court entered an order denying USAA's motion "without prejudice, with leave to renew at a later time." (Order; R. p. 5.)

On June 17, 2019, the case appeared on a jury roster for the week beginning June 24, 2019. The parties were already scheduled for a hearing on USAA's motion to amend its answer before Judge Culbertson on June 18, 2019. At that hearing, USAA expected Appellant's counsel to agree that the case was not ready for trial because Appellant had requested more discovery. (Tr. 8:14-21; R. p. 860.) However, Appellant's counsel told the court that they were ready for trial. (*See id.* at 11:2-13; R. p. 863.) Therefore, USAA filed a one sentence motion for summary judgment the following day stating that "USAA *renews* its motion for summary judgment filed on March 12, 2018" and that it "refers to and incorporates by reference the arguments made in that motion." (Mot. for Summ. J. filed 6/19/2019; R. p. 114 (emphasis added).) No new arguments were contained in the motion.

The trial court's consideration of USAA's renewed motion was appropriate. Rule 6(d) provides that a motion must be served at least 10 days prior to the hearing unless a different

period is fixed by court order. Rule 6(d), SCRCP. Furthermore, as this Court has explained, “[t]he decision whether to reconsider a motion for summary judgment is within the trial judge’s discretion.” *Brown v. Pearson*, 326 S.C. 409, 417, 483 S.E.2d 477, 481 (Ct. App. 1997). In *Brown*, the appellants contended that the respondent’s motion did not give them any notice that a certain issue would be re-argued. *Id.* The court gave them four days to submit any cases in support of their argument, and this Court found that the appellant failed to show they were prejudiced by this ruling. *See id.*

The ten day requirement contemplated by Rule 56(c) ensures that a party has adequate notice of the arguments that the moving party intends to raise and to submit any opposing evidence if it so chooses. Here, the motion for summary judgment *was* served more than 10 days before the hearing. In fact, it was served over a year before the hearing, giving Appellant time to file a 17 page response. USAA’s one-sentence filing simply renewed its prior motion and arguments and did not rely on any new evidence or arguments.

Moreover, the day after Appellant indicated she was ready for trial (meaning that she was no longer pursuing outstanding discovery), USAA filed a notice to renew its motion. Gathering and submitting any additional rebuttal evidence was not a burden on Appellant, as her evidence was already marshaled for trial on the merits. Additionally, the court did not hear USAA’s motion until the morning of trial, which gave Appellant six days to prepare.

For all of these reasons, the trial court properly considered USAA’s renewed motion prior to the commencement of trial.

C. Appellant abandoned her claims for barratry and negligence per se.

After the trial court granted USAA’s motion on these two claims, Appellant did not move to reconsider or file any post-trial motion that addressed these claims. Moreover, Appellant did

not address these claims in her opening brief. Therefore, Appellant's claims for barratry and negligence per se have been abandoned and this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment on these claims. *See Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 344 n.3, 585 S.E.2d 281, 283 n.3 (2003) (holding an issue not argued in the appellant's brief is deemed abandoned on appeal).

D. The trial court properly granted summary judgment on Appellant's breach of contract claim.

1. Appellant's breach of contract argument is not preserved.

As an initial matter, the arguments raised in Appellant's opening brief are not preserved. At the summary judgment hearing, USAA's counsel noted that Appellant initially brought a breach of contract claim asserting that USAA breached the terms of the policy. However, the UIM case concluded with the verdict in Appellant's favor and USAA paid the \$1 million policy limits after the denial of its post-trial motions. Thus, as USAA's counsel noted, "I don't think there's a breach of contract claim anymore." (Tr. 149:12-14; R. p. 1001.) Appellant did not respond to this contention and made no argument in support of this claim at the hearing. The court agreed with USAA and found that because there had been an award and USAA tendered its limits, summary judgment was appropriate as to the breach of contract claim. (Tr. 156:17-19; R. p. 1008.) Appellant did not move to reconsider or otherwise attempt to provide any supporting arguments or evidence for this cause of action.

Therefore, Appellant failed to preserve her appellate arguments as to the merits of this claim and this Court need not consider them. *See Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006) ("It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved."); *see also*

Pryor v. Nw. Apartments, Ltd., 321 S.C. 524, 529, 469 S.E.2d 630, 633 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding argument that circuit court erred by granting summary judgment because discovery requests were outstanding was not preserved because the issue was not raised to the lower court).

2. South Carolina law supports that there was no breach of contract.

Moreover, even if Appellant had preserved the arguments she raises for the first time on appeal, her position is without merit. In her opening brief, Appellant asserts that USAA’s alleged refusal to “promptly pay the reasonable amount owed” supported a breach of contract—even though USAA tendered the \$1 million policy limits following the judgment in the UIM case. (Br. of Appellant at 12.) The Supreme Court expressly rejected the same argument in *Lawson v. Porter*, 256 S.C. 65, 180 S.E.2d 643 (1971).³ *Lawson* involved the uninsured motorist statute, but as courts have acknowledged, “the statutory procedures for UIM and UM are identical.” *Crowe v. Vaughn*, No. 8:08-3665-HMH, 2008 WL 5114956, at *1 (D.S.C. Dec. 2, 2008). As *Lawson* explained, recovery of uninsured coverage “is subject to the condition that the insured **establish legal liability on the part of the uninsured motorist.**” *Lawson*, 256 S.C. at 68-69, 180 S.E.2d at 644 (emphasis added). “Such an action is one *Ex delicto* and the only issues to be determined therein are the liability and the amount of damage.” *Id.* **After judgment** against the uninsured motorist, “a direct action *Ex contractu* can be brought to recover from the insurance company on

³ This Court’s recent decision in *Connelly v. Main Street America Group*, Op No. 2017-00234 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 12, 2020) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 32), is not to the contrary. *Connelly*, which did not cite *Lawson* or its progeny, held that where an insured and insurer agreed on the tortfeasor’s fault and the amount of UIM damages, a suit against the tortfeasor was not a prerequisite to the recovery of UIM benefits. The case did not address the normal UIM situation in which fault and/or damages are disputed and, as a result, a suit against the tortfeasor under § 38-77-160 is required. *See id.* (noting the Court agreed that an insured must establish “fault on the part of the tortfeasor and the amount of the insured’s damages” (quoting *Jenkins v. City of Elkins*, 738 S.E.2d 1, 11 (W. Va. 2012))). In South Carolina, the statutory method of establishing fault and the amount of damages is a suit against the tortfeasor.

its endorsement and in such action policy defenses may be properly raised by the insurance company.” *Id.*

Applying *Lawson*, a number of cases have dismissed claims for breach of contract alleging failure to pay UIM benefits where judgment had yet to be entered in the underlying UIM case. *See, e.g., Williams v. Selective Ins. Co. of the Se.*, 315 S.C. 532, 446 S.E.2d 402 (1994) (affirming summary judgment for insurer where no suit was brought and no judgment obtained against tortfeasor prior to expiration of statute of limitations); *Crowe*, 2008 WL 5114956, at *1 (dismissing claim for breach of contract alleging that insurer failed to pay UIM benefits where judgment had not been entered in the UIM action); *Halmon v. Am. Int’l Grp. Ins. Co.*, 586 F. Supp. 2d 401, 404-05 (D.S.C. 2007) (“[W]hich party is at-fault must be established in a court of law before insurers are contractually required to disburse UIM benefits.”).

Because liability and damages were disputed, there was no way for the parties to know what amount Johnson was liable for (illustrated by the wide disparity between the verdict and even the Appellant’s lowest settlement demand), and thus no way to know the amount of benefits owed, until after a judgment. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment on the breach of contract claim and this Court should affirm.

E. There was insufficient evidence to create a genuine issue of fact as to Appellant’s outrage claim.

1. Appellant submitted no supporting evidence for this claim.

The trial court also properly granted summary judgment on Appellant’s outrage claim because Appellant failed to provide evidence demonstrating a genuine issue of material fact. Appellant based her outrage claim on USAA’s defense of her suit against Johnson. She claimed this defense was outrageous because USAA “called her a liar” through challenging her version of

events and testing her credibility on the headlight issue. To suggest that this conduct rises to the level required for outrage is entirely unsupported by any South Carolina law. And in any event, litigation conduct is expressly recognized in other jurisdictions as being immune from outrage causes of action, which comports with South Carolina's immunity from defamation claims for litigation conduct.

Outrage or intentional infliction of emotional distress requires proof that: (1) the defendant intentionally or recklessly inflicted severe emotional distress or was certain or substantially certain that such distress would result from the its conduct; (2) the conduct was so extreme and outrageous as to exceed all possible bounds of decency and must be regarded as atrocious and utterly intolerable in a civilized community; (3) the action caused the plaintiff's emotional distress; and (4) the emotional distress suffered was severe such that no reasonable person could be expected to endure it. *Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Center*, 388 S.C. 394, 402, 697 S.E.2d 551, 555 (2010).

To prevent claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress from becoming "a panacea for wounded feelings rather than reprehensible conduct," courts play a significant gate keeping role in analyzing a defendant's motion for summary judgment. *Hansson v. Scalise Builders of S.C.*, 374 S.C. 352, 358, 650 S.E.2d 68, 71 (2007) (quoting *Todd v. S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.*, 283 S.C. 155, 171, 321 S.E.2d 602, 611 (Ct. App. 1984)). "Under the heightened standard of proof for emotional distress claims, a party cannot establish a prima facia claim for damages resulting from a defendant's tortious conduct with mere bald allegations." *Id.* Instead, the Court "must look for something 'more'—in the form of third party witness testimony and other corroborating evidence—in order to make a prima facie showing of severe

emotional distress.” *Id.* A plaintiff must make a prima facie showing on each element of this claim to survive summary judgment.

Here, Appellant relied upon bald allegations before the court at summary judgment, and even those did not support the high standard required for outrage. Appellant focused solely on the purported litigation conduct of USAA, asserting that it “drag[ged] her through five years of litigation” and “call[ed] her a liar” despite knowing that Appellant’s defense expert said her lights were off. (Tr. 153:1-8; R. p. 1005.) Appellant, however, did not submit any evidence—affidavits, deposition testimony, exhibits, or otherwise—supporting this argument. Thus, the trial court was **required** to grant summary judgment. *See Humana Hosp.-Bayside v. Lightle*, 305 S.C. 214, 216, 407 S.E.2d 637, 638 (1991) (“Where the plaintiff relies solely upon the pleadings, files no counter-affidavits, and makes no factual showing in opposition to a motion for summary judgment, the lower court is required . . . to grant summary judgment, if, under the facts presented by the defendant, he was entitled to judgment.”); *see also Clark v. Greenville Cnty.*, 313 S.C. 205, 208, 437 S.E.2d 117, 188 (1993) (finding that arguments of counsel were not evidence to oppose summary judgment).

On appeal, Appellant cites to her deposition and trial testimony—neither of which was before the court at the time of the hearing—to support that there were genuine issues of material fact for trial. It is axiomatic that an appellate court must review the record ***as it was presented to the lower court***. *See, e.g., Variety Stores, Inc. v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 888 F.3d 651, 657 n.1 (4th Cir. 2018) (“[I]n reviewing the district court’s summary judgment order, we limit our review to the portion of the record that was presented to the district court as the summary judgment record.”); *Baker v. Town of Sullivan’s Island*, 279 S.C. 581, 583, 310 S.E.2d 433, 435 (Ct. App. 1983) (noting that the question is whether the evidence “offered at the summary judgment

stage,” when taken in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, gives rise to any genuine issue of material fact). As the *Baker* court noted, it is “*irrelevant* that additional evidence might be presented at trial.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

In determining whether the trial court erred, this Court engages in a similarly backward-looking analysis to determine if there was a genuine issue of material fact for trial based on the record before the trial court at the time of the order. It would turn the analysis on its head to permit an Appellant to premise supposed reversible error on evidence that was not submitted to the trial court until after it had already ruled on summary judgment.⁴ This Court should affirm due to the lack of any evidence supporting Appellant’s outrage claim.

2. Appellant focused her outrage claim on litigation conduct, which is not actionable as a matter of law.

The trial court also correctly granted summary judgment for this reason. At the summary judgment hearing, the only conduct identified by Appellant to support the outrage claim was a bald allegation that USAA and its counsel “called her a liar” during the UIM litigation. Although Appellant now contends on appeal that the trial court failed to account for the “special relationship” between insurer and insured, which she contends would support a viable outrage claim under these facts, she never raised this issue to the trial court. Thus, that argument is waived. In any case, she does not cite to any authority which would impose a lower burden for

⁴ If Appellant believed the court erroneously granted summary judgment due to its failure to consider certain arguments or evidence, she should have moved to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e). Because no such motion was filed, the issue is not properly before this Court. *See Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (noting a party must file a Rule 59(e) motion “when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review”); *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 456, 756 S.E.2d 155, 162 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding that because issues raised were not addressed in the grant of partial summary judgment or raised in a Rule 59(e) motion, they would not be examined on appeal).

proving outrage in the insurer-insured context. Regardless, litigation conduct does not support a claim for outrage.

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